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To Elmer Bernstein






Foreword:

“The Work of a Patriot”

John Berger




Fahrenheit 9/11 is astounding.

Michael Moore’s film profoundly moved the artists on the Cannes Film Festival jury, and they voted unanimously to award it the Palme d’Or. Since then it has touched many millions of people. During the first six weeks of its showing in the United States the box office takings amounted to over 100 million dollars, which is, astoundingly, about half of what Harry Potter and the Sorcerer’s Stone made during a comparable period.

People have never seen another film like Fahrenheit 9/11. Only the so-called opinion-makers in the press and media appear to have been put out by it.

The film, considered as a political act, may be a historical landmark. Yet to have a sense of this, a certain perspective for the future is required. Living only close up to the latest news, as most opinion-makers do, reduces one’s perspectives: everything is a hassle, no more. The film by contrast believes it may be making a very small contribution toward the changing of world history. It is a work inspired by hope.

What makes it an event is the fact that it is an effective and independent intervention into immediate world politics. Today it is rare for an artist (Moore is one) to succeed in making such an intervention, and in interrupting the prepared, prevaricating statements of politicians. Its immediate aim is to make it less likely that President Bush will be reelected next November. From start to finish it invites a political and social argument.

To denigrate this as propaganda is either naive or perverse, for getting (deliberately?) what the last century taught us. Propaganda requires a permanent network of communication so that it can systematically stifle reflection with emotive or utopian slogans. Its pace is usually fast. Propaganda invariably serves the long-term interests of some elite.

This single maverick movie is often reflectively slow and is not afraid of silence. It appeals to people to think for themselves and make thought-out connections. And it identifies with, and pleads for, those who are normally unlistened to.

Making a strong case is not the same thing as saturating with propaganda. FOX TV does the latter, Michael Moore the former.

Ever since the Greek tragedies, artists have, from time to time, asked themselves how they might influence ongoing political events. A tricky question because two very different types of power are involved. Many theories of aesthetics and ethics revolve around this question. For those living under political tyrannies, art has frequently been a form of hidden resistance, and tyrants habitually look for ways to control art. All this, however, is in general terms and over a large terrain. Fahrenheit 9/11 is something different. It has succeeded in intervening in a political program on the program’s own ground.

For this to happen a convergence of factors were needed. The Cannes award and the misjudged attempt to prevent the film being distributed played a significant part in creating the event.

To point this out in no way implies that the film as such doesn’t deserve the attention it is receiving. It’s simply to remind ourselves that within the realm of the mass media a breakthrough (a smashing-down of the daily wall of lies and half-truths) is bound to be rare. And it is this rarity which has made the film exemplary. It is setting an example to millions—as if they’d been waiting for it.

The film proposes that the White House and Pentagon were taken over in the first year of the millennium by a gang of thugs—plus their Born-Again Frontman—so that U.S. power should henceforth serve, as a priority, the global interests of the Corporations. A stark scenario that is closer to the truth than most nuanced editorials. Yet more important than the scenario is the way the movie speaks out. It demonstrates that, despite all the manipulative power of communications experts, lying presidential speeches, and vapid press conferences, a single independent voice, pointing out certain home truths that countless Americans are already discovering for themselves, can break through the conspiracy of silence, the manufactured atmosphere of fear, and the solitude of feeling politically impotent.

It’s a movie that speaks of obstinate faraway desires in a period of disillusion. A movie that tells jokes whilst the band plays the Apocalypse. A movie in which millions of Americans recognize themselves and the precise ways in which they are being cheated. A movie about surprises, mostly bad but some good, being discussed together. Fahrenheit 9/11 reminds the spectator that when courage is shared one can fight against the odds.

In over a thousand cinemas across the country Michael Moore becomes with this film a People’s Tribune. And what do we see? Bush is visibly a political cretin, as ignorant of the world as he is indifferent to it. Whilst the Tribune, informed by popular experience, acquires political credibility, not as a politician himself but as the voice of the anger of a multitude and its will to resist.

There is something else that is astounding. The aim of Fahrenheit 9/11 is to stop Bush fixing the next election as he fixed the last. Its focus is on the totally unjustified war in Iraq. Yet its conclusion is larger than either of these issues. It declares that a political economy that creates colossally increasing wealth surrounded by disastrously increasing poverty, needs—in order to survive—a continual war with some invented foreign enemy to maintain its own internal order and security. It requires ceaseless war.

Thus, fifteen years after the fall of Communism, decades after the declared End of History, one of the main theses of Marx’s interpretation of history again becomes a debating point and a possible explanation of the catastrophes being lived.

It is always the poor who make the most sacrifices, Fahrenheit 9/11 announces quietly during its last minutes. For how much longer?

There is no future for any civilization anywhere in the world today that ignores this question. And this is why the film was made and became what it became. It’s a film that deeply wants America to survive.








Introduction



As I write this, my film Fahrenheit 9/11 is still playing in hundreds of theaters across America. Though I have often heard the overused cliché of “being in the eye of a hurricane,” I never really knew what that meant until I made this movie.

And it is far too early for me to possess the insight necessary to explain the fever that has erupted over Fahrenheit 9/11. The records started falling in the first hours of the film’s release:

Biggest opening day ever for any film at both New York theaters

First documentary ever to debut at No. 1

Largest grossing documentary ever, beating the previous record holder (Bowling for Columbine) by 600 percent

A Gallup poll showed that more than half of the American public said they planned on seeing the film, either in the theater or on home video. No one could remember when a film posted those kinds of numbers.

The intense desire to see Fahrenheit 9/11 grew out of a series of events that began in late April of 2004 when our distributor was told by its parent company, the Walt Disney Company, that they would not distribute our film. Michael Eisner, the head of Disney, said that he didn’t want his studio putting out a partisan political film that might offend the families who go to their amusement parks. Of course, he didn’t mention that he had a problem with Disney syndicating the Sean Hannity radio show (which they do) or carrying Rush Limbaugh on their ABC-owned stations (which they do) or broadcasting Pat Robertson’s 700 Club on the Disney Family Channel (which…well, you get the point. What Eisner meant to say was that if my movie had been a piece of right-wing, hate-filled propaganda that supported the Bush administration’s every move, then that would be OK).

When the story broke, Disney tried their best to spin it, but it didn’t work and only made people want to see the film more.

We then went to the Cannes Film Festival without a distributor. As only the third documentary in the history of the festival to be placed in competition (the other two were Louis Malle and Jacques Cousteau’s The Silent World and Bowling for Columbine), Fahrenheit went on to win the top prize, the Palme d’Or.

But we came home without a distributor. The White House went into overdrive, with Karl Rove’s office making calls to encourage reporters to trash a film they hadn’t seen. A Republican group began a campaign to harass any theater owners who said they were going to show Fahrenheit 9/11. At least three movie chains, and scores of other individual theaters, were scared off and announced they would not show our movie on any of their screens. Another group filed a complaint with the Federal Elections Commission (FEC) to have them stop us from advertising our film on TV, claiming the spots were “political ads” that violated the law. By the time the FEC ruled in our favor, our distributor had already pulled all the ads.

Rove sent the attack dogs out to denounce the movie—the official White House statement was that “we don’t need to see it to know that it is wrong.” Bush’s dad called me a bunch of names, and their mouthpiece pundits in the media went on all the talk shows to trash me and the movie.

But none of it worked. They only made people want to see the movie. And when these millions of Americans emerged from movie theaters, they were shaken to the core. Theater managers across the country reported crowds in tears, audiences standing and cheering a blank screen at the end of the movie. So many people stayed in the theater to talk to the strangers around them that the theaters had to schedule more time between screenings.

Thousands of emails poured in to our website, an average of 6,000 a day. On some days, over 20 million people went to our website. Viewer after viewer told us their stories of watching the movie. So many letters began with one of these two lines: “I have never voted, but I am now going to vote this year” or “I’m a Republican and I just don’t know what to do now.”

In an election year where the presidency could be decided by a few thousand votes, these comments were profound—and frightening to the Bush White House. According to the Harris poll, about 10 percent of the people seeing the movie were Republican and 44 percent of them said they would recommend the film to other Republicans. Thirty percent of them said that they felt the movie treated Mr. Bush “fairly.”

Another poll showed that over 13 percent of the undecided voters had seen the movie. One Republican pollster told me, after conducting his own informal poll by watching the movie with audiences in three separate cities, that “perhaps eighty percent of the people going into Fahrenheit 9/11 are Kerry voters—but one hundred percent of the people coming out of Fahrenheit 9/11 are Kerry voters. I was not able to find anyone who would say ‘I am absolutely voting for Bush’ after they had sat through the two hours of your movie.”

In Pennsylvania, a key swing state, a Keystone poll showed that 4 percent of Kerry’s vote was due to people swayed or motivated by Fahrenheit 9/11 (and 2 percent was credited to the nonstop attacks on Bush by Howard Stern, who also strongly advocated our film).

As I write this a few months before Election Day, no one knows what all this will mean. What we do know is that Fahrenheit 9/11 has rocked the country in a way that films rarely have a chance to do. For that privilege all of us who made the film are extremely grateful. Fifty percent of this nation does not vote. If we have something to do with bringing that number down just a few percentage points, then all will be worth it.

In the end, while we hope that Fahrenheit 9/11 makes its contribution, we are, first and foremost, filmmakers and artists. We worked hard on creating a work of cinema that would move people not just politically but on an emotional and visceral level. I hope we have made a contribution to this art form we love so much. Who among us doesn’t love to go to the movies and split a gut laughing; be surprised, shocked, reduced to tears, swept away, blown away; leave the theater wanting to go back in again? For those of us who make movies, that is why we do so. That is what I hope we have done here.

Because so many of you have asked us to publish the film’s screenplay—and all the supporting evidence we have—we have decided to provide you with this book. Screenplay seems like an odd word for a documentary, but nonfiction may be a form of screen-writing, just like fiction (the Writers Guild in 2002, for the first time, made that point by voting Bowling for Columbine the best original screenplay of the year). Besides the fact that documentaries generally don’t use actors, they are a style of filmmaking that is different from fiction features in that they are written after the movie is shot. You enter the editing room with hundreds of hours of footage, and then you must decide what your story is and construct—write—it. It’s definitely a cart-before-the-

horse system, which in some ways makes it much more challenging than fiction films, where the writer just tells everyone what to say. We can’t tell George Bush what to say or John Ashcroft what to sing. But what we do with what is said requires a lot of noodling—to determine where it all fits into the basic story we are trying to tell. This is then all woven together with the narration that I write. It is a painstaking process that takes months, sometimes years.

So, on these pages I have published the screenplay so that you can read the film and rediscover the mountain of information and facts that Fahrenheit 9/11 presents. It’s hard to take it all in at one screening, so I hope having this screenplay will help you find the treasure that might have been buried by all those great shots of eggs hitting the presidential limo.

For those of you who have been hectored by your conservative brother-in-law who has repeated to you the talking points he has been given by FOX News about Fahrenheit 9/11, this book gives you all the ammo you need to refute any and all of his crazy comments about the movie. It’s hard for conservatives to believe that their leader may be in bed with the wrong people, so contained herein is all the evidence you need to help sober them up. After all, friends don’t let friends vote Republican.

I have also reprinted some of the best essays and reviews of the movie by people smarter than me who figured out what I was up to before I did. They will give you some good insight into what the movie means and the place it now holds in the annals of cinema.

Another chapter gives you a series of writings related to the issues in the film. I have personally chosen them because I want the discussion to go beyond just the movie and into where do we go from here. These pieces give you a more in-depth look into the Bush-Saudi connection (including new information on the bin Laden post-9/11 flights), the reasons we were conned into going into Iraq, and why the media failed to do its job. And a ten-year-old article from the L.A. Times perhaps provides the real story behind why Disney didn’t want to distribute Fahrenheit 9/11.

Finally, I wanted to share with you some of those emails I received from people after they saw the film. I am still moved by them when I read them and I think you will be, too. Included also are photos from the opening week around the country and some of our favorite editorial cartoons that ran in the major daily papers.

I don’t think any of us who worked on Fahrenheit 9/11 had a clue that it would become a pivotal moment in this historic election year. We just wanted to make a good movie. I hope we have succeeded. And I hope you enjoy this companion book to our film. Someday, after all this has passed and I have time to reflect on what it all meant, I will share that story with you. But that can’t be done right now. Right now, it’s a movie that in some ways, though finished, is still a work in progress, its true ending to be written on November 2, 2004, and the months that follow. That makes all of you my cowriters.

MICHAEL MOORE

New York City

August 2004









Part I


Fahrenheit 9/11—

The Screenplay




Narrated by Michael Moore



Fireworks and confetti fly through the air as a triumphant Al Gore cheers at a podium with FLORIDA VICTORY sign in background—he is flanked by celebrities

NARRATION

Was it all just a dream?


AL GORE

God bless you, Florida! Thank you.


NARRATION


Did the last four years not really happen? Look, there’s Ben Affleck, he’s often in my dreams. And the Taxi Driver guy, he was there, too, and Little Stevie Wonder, he, he seemed so happy, like, like a miracle had taken place. Was it a dream?

Or was it real?

It was election night 2000, and everything seemed to be going as planned.



News clip montage

TOM BROKAW (NBC NEWS)

In New York, Al Gore is our projected winner.


DAN RATHER (CBS NEWS)


The Garden State is green for Gore.

We project that Mr. Gore is the winner in Delaware. This state has voted with the winner.

Excuse me one second, I’m so sorry to interrupt you. Mike, you know I wouldn’t do this if it weren’t big. Florida goes for Al Gore.



JUDY WOODRUFF (CNN NEWS)

CNN announces that we call Florida in the Al Gore column.


NARRATION

Then something called the FOX News Channel called the election in favor of the other guy.


BRIT HUME (FOX NEWS)

I interrupt you, FOX News now projects George W. Bush the winner in Florida and thus it appears the winner of the presidency of the United States.


NARRATION

All of a sudden, the other networks said, “Hey! If FOX said it, it must be true!”


TOM BROKAW

All of us at the networks made a mistake, and projected Florida in the Al Gore column. It was our mistake.


Shot of John Ellis working at phones and TV monitors on Election Night

NARRATION

Now, what most people don’t know is that the man who was in charge of the decision desk at FOX that night, the man who called it for Bush, was none other than Bush’s first cousin John Ellis. How does someone like Bush get away with something like this.


News clip of Bush cackling

NARRATION

Bush brothers sitting on plane

Well, first, it helps if your brother is the governor of the state in question.


GEORGE W. BUSH

You know something, we are gonna win Florida. Mark my words. You can write it down.


NARRATION

Shots of Katherine Harris, Database Technologies, and voters at polls

Second, make sure the chairman of your campaign is also the vote countin’ woman and that her state has hired a company that’s gonna knock voters off the rolls who aren’t likely to vote for you. You can usually tell them by the color of their skin. Then make sure your side fights like it’s life or death.


JAMES BAKER (FORMER SECRETARY OF STATE, BUSH LAWYER)

I think all this talk about legitimacy is way overblown.


CROWD PROTESTING FLORIDA RECOUNT

President Bush! President Bush!


NARRATION

Democratic Leaders of Congress, Congressman Richard Gephardt, and Senator Tom Daschle sitting at desk looking at phone


And hope that the other side’ll just sit by and wait for the phone to ring.

And even if numerous independent investigations prove that Gore got the most votes…



JEFF TOOBIN (CNN NEWS CONSULTANT)

If there was a statewide recount, under every scenario, Gore won the election.


NARRATION

It won’t matter, just as long as all your daddy’s friends on the Supreme Court vote the right way.


AL GORE

Concession speech to Bush

While I strongly disagree with the court’s decision, I accept it.


SENATOR TOM DASCHLE

Addressing media with Democratic response to court’s decision

What we need now is acceptance. We have a new President-elect.


NARRATION

Back to Florida victory footage—Al and Tipper Gore waving

It turns out none of this was a dream. It’s what really happened.


FADE TO BLACK

Al Gore presiding over Joint Session of Congress—certifying election results

On the day the joint session of both the House of Representatives and the Senate was to certify the election results, Al Gore, in his dual role as outgoing Vice President and President of the Senate, presided over the event that would officially anoint George W. Bush as the new President.


Members of Congressional Black Caucus approach the session with objections to the Florida election results

If any Congressman wanted to raise an objection the rules insisted that he or she had to have the signed support of just one Senator.


CONGRESSMAN ALCEE HASTINGS

Mr. President—and I take great pride in calling you that—I must object because of the overwhelming evidence of official misconduct, deliberate fraud, and an attempt to suppress voter turnout…


AL GORE

The chair must remind members that under Section 18 of Title 3 United States Code, no debate is allowed in the joint session.


CONGRESSMAN ALCEE HASTINGS

Thank you, Mr. President. To answer your question, Mr. President, the objection is in writing, signed by a number of members of the House of Representatives, but not by a member of the Senate.


Ominous music—as various black Congressmen and -women are shunned by every member of the Senate

CONGRESSWOMAN CORRINE BROWN

Uh, Mr. President, it is in writing and signed by several House colleagues on behalf—and myself—of the twenty-seven thousand voters of Duval County, in which sixteen thousand of them are African-Americans that was disenfranchised in this last election.


AL GORE

Is the objection signed by a member of the Senate?


CONGRESSWOMAN CORRINE BROWN

Not signed by a member of the Senate. The Senate is missing.


CONGRESSWOMAN BARBARA LEE

Mr. President, it is in writing and signed by myself, on behalf of many of the diverse constituents in our country, especially those in the Ninth Congressional district, and all American voters who recognize that the Supreme Court—not the people of the United States—decided this election.


AL GORE

Is…Is the objection signed by a Senator?


CONGRESSWOMAN BARBARA LEE

Unfortunately, Mr. President, it is not signed by one single Senator.


CONGRESSWOMAN PATSY MINK

Unfortunately, I have no authority over the United States Senate, and no Senator has signed.


CONGRESSWOMAN CARRIE MEEK

Mr. President, it is in writing and signed by myself and several of my constituent—constituents from Florida, a Senator is needed, but missing.


AL GORE

Is the objection in writing and signed by a member of the House and a Senator?


CONGRESSWOMAN MAXINE WATERS

The objection is in writing, and I don’t care that it is not, it is not signed by a member of the Senate.


AL GORE

The…the Chair will advise that the rules do care. And…the…the signature of a Senator…


NARRATION

Not a single Senator came to the aid of the African Americans in Congress. One after another, they were told to sit down and shut up.


CONGRESSMAN JESSE JACKSON JR.

It’s a sad day in America, Mr. President, when we can’t find a Senator to sign an objection, new…won’t sign objections, I object.


AL GORE

The gentleman…the gentleman will suspend…the gentleman will…the gentleman will suspend…


DISSOLVE TO RAINY INAUGURATION DAY COVERAGE

PETER JENNINGS(ABC NEWS)VOICEOVER

Inauguration coverage, 2001, on a nasty but it could be worse kind of day in Washington.


CROWD

Protestors marching with placards and megaphones

What do we want? Justice! When do we want it? Now!


NARRATION

Huge crowds march along presidential route, police try to control

On the day George W. Bush was inaugurated, tens of thousands of Americans poured into the streets of D.C. in one last attempt to reclaim what had been taken from them.


CROWD

Hail to the thief! Hail to the thief!


NARRATION

Shot of Bush’s limo en route to swearing-in—surrounded by protestors—being hit with eggs

They pelted Bush’s limo with eggs…


POLICEMAN

Stay back, get back.


NARRATION

And brought the inauguration parade to a halt. The plan to have Bush get out of the limo for the traditional walk to the White House was scrapped.


Protestors rioting—getting carried away by police; Bush’s limo speeds up as security guards run to keep up—escaping angry crowds

Bush’s limo hit the gas to prevent an even larger riot. No President had ever witnessed such a thing on his Inauguration Day.


News clips: shots of a troubled Bush—approval ratings drop almost 10 percent between May 3 and September 5, 2001

And, for the next eight months, it didn’t get any better for George W. Bush. He couldn’t get his judges appointed, he had trouble getting his legislation passed, and he lost Republican control of the Senate. His approval ratings in the polls began to sink. He was already beginning to look like a lame duck president. With everything going wrong, he did what any of us would do, he went on vacation.


MUSIC CUE


Vacation, All I ever wanted

Vacation, Have to get away

Vacation, Meant to be spent alone



News clips: shots of George W. Bush golfing, fishing, playing with dogs

GEORGE W. BUSH

As he slices a golf shot

Oh no!


NARRATION

In his first eight months in office before September 11, George W. Bush was on vacation, according to the Washington Post, forty-two percent of the time.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Reaction to the press corps watching his bad shot

If I hit every shot good, people would say I wasn’t working.


NARRATION

Over shot of Bush in cowboy hat sawing a fallen tree

It was not surprising that Mr. Bush needed some time off. Being President is a lot of work.


UNIDENTIFIED REPORTER

Off camera

Bush, signing autographs, surrounded by reporters and kids, August 8, 2001

What about these folks that say you’re loafing here in Texas, that you’re taking too long of a vacation?


GEORGE W. BUSH

They don’t understand the definition of work, then. I’m getting a lot done. Secondly, you don’t have to be in Washington to work. It’s uh, it’s amazing, uh, what can happen with telephones and faxes and uh…[inaudible]


DIFFERENT REPORTER

Off camera

What are you doing the rest of the day?


GEORGE W. BUSH

Karen Hughes is coming over. We’re working on some things, and uh, she’ll be over here, we’ll be working on a few things, a few matters. I’m working on some initiatives…we’re uh…you’ll see. I mean…I’ve got made while I’m here, and we’ll be announcing them as time goes on.


NARRATION

Michael Moore and crew at “Bush for Governor” event…

The first time I met him, he had some good advice for me.


MICHAEL MOORE

Governor Bush…it’s Michael Moore.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Behave yourself, will you? Go find real work.


NARRATION

Photo op—Bush serving grits and smiling for cameras

And work was something he knew a lot about.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Anybody want some grits?


NARRATION

Shots of Bush at various vacation spots

Relaxing at Camp David. Yachting off Kennebunkport.


GEORGE W. BUSH

To dog on the ranch

How ya doing?


NARRATION

Or, being a cowboy on the ranch in Texas.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Photo op—after sawing fallen tree, to journalists, August 25, 2001

I love the nature. I love to get in the pickup truck with my dogs.


GEORGE W. BUSH

To dog, in his pickup truck, on the ranch

Oh, hi.


NARRATION

George Bush spent the rest of August at the ranch. Where life was less complicated.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Same interview near fallen tree, August 25, 2001

Armadillos love to dig the soil looking for bugs. And um, so I went out there the other day and there was Barney buried in this hole, chasing an armadillo.


NARRATION

Bush giggles thinking about Barney

It was a summer to remember. And when it was over he left Texas for his second favorite place.


George W. Bush meets Jeb Bush on Tarmac in Florida, they mug for cameras, before G.W. Bush shakes hands of men waiting in line

On September 10, he joined his brother in Florida where they looked at files and met important Floridians. He went to sleep that night in a bed made with fine French linens.


FADE TO BLACK

Credit sequence—Bush and cabinet members in makeup, moments before television addresses/interviews

LIONS GATE FILMS
AND
IFC FILMS
AND
THE FELLOWSHIP ADVENTURE GROUP
PRESENT

DONALD RUMSFELD

Soundbite between credits—said to aide off camera

Do you suppose he’s pretty confident on those numbers on Iraqi security forces?
A
DOG EAT DOG FILMS
PRODUCTION

FAHRENHEIT 9/11
MUSIC: JEFF GIBBS • ARCHIVAL PRODUCER: CARL
DEAL • CAMERA: MIKE DESJARLAIS • SOUND: FRANCISCO
LATORRE • EDITORS: KURT ENGFEHR / CHRISTOPHER
SEWARD / T. WOODY RICHMAN • CO-PRODUCERS:
JEFF GIBBS / KURT ENGFEHR

JOHN ASHCROFT


Make me look young! (laughter)

Yeah, I got a little sort of air noise. Yeah, just don’t turn it up too much so I don’t want to blow my head off.



SUPERVISING PRODUCER: TIA LESSIN

VOICE OFF CAMERA

Over shot of President Bush at desk in Oval Office, about to make TV address


I got a…I got a mic here, if they want to hear. Testing one, two, this is the Oval Office. We’re testing, one, two. Testing one, two, this is the Oval Office. Testing one, two, three, four, five…

EXECUTIVE PRODUCERS: HARVEY WEINSTEIN / BOB WEINSTEIN / AGNES MENTRE • PRODUCERS: JIM CZARNECKI / KATHLEEN GLYNN • WRITTEN, PRODUCED, AND DIRECTED BY: MICHAEL MOORE



BLACK SCREEN—audio of planes hitting towers

REPORTER

Sound only—over black screen

We got something that has happened here at the World Trade Center. We noticed that a plane and an awful lot of smoke.


CROWD

Sound only—over black screen

Oh my God. Oh my. Let’s go. Let’s go. Come on. Let’s go.


FADE UP from black—as crowd watches from below in horror

WOMAN IN CROWD

Save their souls, Lord. Save their souls, Lord.


CROWD

Oh, they’re jumping!


Shocked faces, people looking up and crying in disbelief, hugging, praying. Dust fills the air as people run in slow motion away from falling debris

NARRATION

Photos of lost/missing posters, candlelight vigils

On September 11, 2001, nearly three thousand people, including a colleague of mine, Bill Weems, were killed in the largest foreign attack ever on American soil. The targets were the financial and military headquarters of the United States.


UNIDENTIFIED WOMAN

News clip: holding photo, pleading for help, crying

If anyone has any idea, or if they’ve seen him or knows where he is, to call us. He’s got two little babies. Two little babies.


NARRATION

Bush’s limo pulling into school

As the attack took place, Mr. Bush was on his way to an elementary school in Florida. When informed of the first plane hitting the World Trade Center, where terrorists had struck just eight years prior, Mr. Bush decided to go ahead with his photo opportunity.


TEACHER

Bush walks into classroom

Good morning boys and girls.


KIDS

Good morning…


GEORGE W. BUSH

Morning.


TEACHER

Read this word the fast way. Get ready!


KIDS

Mat.


TEACHER

Yes, mat, get ready!


KIDS

Cat.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Applauding students

Yeah.


TEACHER

Okay, get ready to read the words on this page without making a mistake.


NARRATION

Chief of staff enters and whispers in Bush’s ear

When the second plane hit the tower, his chief of staff entered the classroom and told Mr. Bush, “The nation is under attack.” Not knowing what to do, with no one telling him what to do, and no Secret Service rushing in to take him to safety, Mr. Bush just sat there and continued to read My Pet Goat with the children.


TEXT ON SCREEN

9:05 AM–medium wide shot of Bush—looking past kids

9:07 AM–Bush looks down at book

9:09 AM–Bush nervously looks at aides to the side of room

9:11 AM–aide whispers in the ear of White House Press Secretary Ari Fleischer

9:12 AM–Bush nodding as kids read on

NARRATION

No movement from Bush, still sitting in chair, looking around room


Nearly seven minutes passed with nobody doing anything. As Bush sat in that Florida classroom, was he wondering if maybe he should have shown up to work more often? Should he have held at least one meeting since taking office to discuss the threat of terrorism with his head of counterterrorism? (shot of Richard Clarke, head of Counterterrorism, testifying in Congress)

Or maybe Mr. Bush was wondering why he had cut terrorism funding from the FBI, or perhaps he just should have read the security briefing that was given to him on August 6, 2001.



Shots of Bush on the ranch, with aides holding the August 6 briefing

Which said that Osama bin Laden was planning to attack America by hijacking airplanes. But maybe he wasn’t worried about the terrorist threat because the title of the report was too vague.


CONDOLEEZZA RICE (NATIONAL SECURITY ADVISER)

Testifying before 9/11 Commission

I believe the title was “Bin Laden Determined to Attack Inside the United States.”


NARRATION

News clip: Bush fishing, and close-up of him in Florida classroom


A report like that might make some men jump, but as in days past, George W. Bush just went fishing. As the minutes went by, George Bush continued to sit in the classroom. Was he thinking, “I’ve been hanging out with the wrong crowd? Which one of them screwed me?”

Was it the guy my daddy’s friends delivered a lot of weapons to? (shot of Donald Rumsfeld shaking hands with Saddam Hussein in 1983)

Was it that group of religious fundamentalists who visited my state when I was governor? (Taliban leaders in Texas)

Or was it the Saudis? (Bush with Saudi prince) Damn, it was them. (Osama bin Laden shooting gun)

I think I better blame it on this guy. (Saddam Hussein dancing)



NARRATION

Travelers stranded at airports

In the days following September 11, all commercial and private airline traffic was grounded.


News clip

FAA CHIEF

The FAA has taken the action to close all of the airports in the United States.


UNIDENTIFIED REPORTER VOICEOVER (NBC)

Even grounding the President’s father.


Former President Bush, on a flight forced to land in Milwaukee

UNIDENTIFIED (ABC) REPORTER VOICEOVER

Thousands of travelers were stranded, among them, Ricky Martin, due to appear at tonight’s Latin Grammy awards.


NARRATION

Over footage of Ricky Martin shrugging to journalist

Not even Ricky Martin could fly. But really, who wanted to fly? No one, except the bin Ladens.


MUSIC CUE


We’ve got to get out of this place,

If it’s the last thing we ever do.



Inside office of Senator Byron Dorgan (D-North Dakota), Senate subcommittee on aviation

SENATOR BYRON DORGAN

We had some airplanes authorized at the highest levels of our government to fly to pick up Osama bin Laden’s family members and others from Saudi Arabia and transport them out of this country.


NARRATION

New York Times headline, flight logs, Osama sitting in front of map, holding rifle

It turns out that the White House approved planes to pick up the bin Ladens and numerous other Saudis. At least six private jets and nearly two dozen commercial planes carried the Saudis and the bin Ladens out of the U.S. after September 13. In all 142 Saudis, including twenty-four members of the bin Laden family were allowed to leave the country.


Interview: Craig Unger, author of House of Bush, House of Saud, with White House in background

INTERVIEW: CRAIG UNGER

Osama’s always been portrayed as a bad apple, the black sheep in the family and that they cut off all relationship with him around 1994. In fact, things are much more complicated than that.


MICHAEL MOORE

Over footage of Osama at son’s wedding

You mean Osama has had contact with other family members?


CRAIG UNGER

That’s right, in the summer of 2001 just before 9/11, one of Osama’s sons got married in Afghanistan; several family members showed up at the wedding.


MICHAEL MOORE

Bin Ladens?


CRAIG UNGER

That’s right, so they’re not cut off completely, that’s really an exaggeration.


TV clip: CNN, Larry King Live

LARRY KING

We now welcome to Larry King Live—good to see him again—Prince Bandar, the ambassador of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia to the United States.


PRINCE BANDAR

We had about twenty-four members of bin Laden’s family, and, uh…


LARRY KING

Here?


PRINCE BANDAR

In America, students, and, His Majesty felt that it’s not fair for those innocent people to be subjected to any harm. On the other hand, we understood the high emotions, so, with coordination with the FBI we got them all out.


NARRATION

Jack Cloonan being interviewed by Michael Moore

This is retired FBI agent Jack Cloonan. Before 9/11, he was a senior agent on the joint FBI-CIA al Qaeda task force.


JACK CLOONAN

I, as an investigator, would not want these people to have left. I think in the case of the bin Laden family I think it would have been prudent, hand the subpoenas out, have them come in, get on the record, you know, get on the record.


MICHAEL MOORE

That’s the proper procedure.


JACK CLOONAN


Yeah.

Yeah, how many people were pulled off of airlines after that, coming into the country who were what? They were from the Middle East or they fit a very general picture.



MICHAEL MOORE

We held hundreds of people.


JACK CLOONAN

We held hundreds, and I…


MICHAEL MOORE


For weeks and months at a time…

Did the authorities do anything when the bin Ladens tried to leave the country?



CRAIG UNGER

No, they were identified at the airport. They looked at their pass…passports and they were identified.


MICHAEL MOORE

Well, that’s what would happen to you or I if we were to leave the country.


CRAIG UNGER

Exactly, exactly.


MICHAEL MOORE

So a little interview, check the passport, what else?


CRAIG UNGER

Nothing.


NARRATION

Over clips from TV show Dragnet, detectives looking for answers

I don’t know about you but usually when the police can’t find a murderer, don’t they usually want to talk to the family members to find out where they think he might be?


Dragnet clips

You have no idea where your husband might be?


MAN #1

Well, if you should hear anything, let us know, will you? You willing to come downtown and give us a statement?


MAN #2

This going to take long?


MAN #1

You got the time.


MAN #2

Mine’s worth money, yours isn’t.


MAN #1

Send in a bill.


MAN #2

I asked you a question.


MAN #1

You’re here to answer ’em, not to ask ’em.


MAN #2

Now you listen to me, cop, I pay your salary.


MAN #1

All right, sit down, I’m gonna earn it.


NARRATION

More shots from Dragnet

Yeah, that’s how cops do it. What was going on here?


INTERVIEW: SENATOR BYRON DORGAN

I think we need to know a lot more about that. That needs to be the subject of a significant investigation. What happened? How did it happen? Why did it happen? And who authorized it?


INTERVIEW: JACK CLOONAN

Try to imagine what those poor bastards were feeling…when they were jumping out of that building…to their death…those…those…those young guys, and cops and firemen that ran into that building, never asked a question…and they’re dead. And families’ lives are ruined. And they’ll never…they’ll never have peace.


MICHAEL MOORE

That’s right.


JACK CLOONAN

And, if I had to inconvenience a, uh, a member of the bin Laden family with a subpoena or a grand jury, do you think I’d lose any sleep over it? Not for a minute, Mike.


MICHAEL MOORE

And no one would question it.


JACK CLOONAN

No, it’s right…


MICHAEL MOORE

Not even the biggest civil libertarian…


JACK CLOONAN

No, no…


MICHAEL MOORE

…no one would question…


JACK CLOONAN

It’s just…it’s just you know, you got a lawyer? Fine. Counselor? Fine. Mr. bin Laden, this is why I’m asking you, it’s not because I think that you’re anything, I just want to ask you the questions that I would anybody…


MICHAEL MOORE

Right.


JACK CLOONAN

…and that’s all.


NARRATION

Shots of White House, Oklahoma City bombing, Bill Clinton, Timothy McVeigh, and a private jet

None of this made any sense. Can you imagine in the days after the Oklahoma City terrorist bombing, President Clinton helping to arrange a trip out of the country for the McVeigh family? What do you think would have happened to Clinton if that had been revealed?


FILM FOOTAGE (of men burning someone at the stake)

Burn him! Burn him!


TV clip: CNN, Larry King Live

LARRY KING

Prince Bandar, do you know the bin Laden family?


PRINCE BANDAR (SAUDI AMBASSADOR TO THE U.S.)

I do, very well.


LARRY KING

What are they like?


PRINCE BANDAR

They’re really lovely human beings. Uh, he is the only one I never…I don’t know him well, I met him only once.


LARRY KING

What was the circumstance under which you met him?


PRINCE BANDAR

This is ironic. In mid-eighties, if you remember, we and the United States were supporting the Mujahadeen, to, uh, liberate Afghanistan from the Soviets. He came to thank me for my efforts to bring the Americans, our friends, to help us against the atheists, he said, the Communists.


LARRY KING

How ironic.


PRINCE BANDAR

Isn’t that ironic?


LARRY KING

Now, in other words he came to thank you for helping bring America to help him.


PRINCE BANDAR

Uh-hem.


LARRY KING

And now he may be responsible for bombing America.


PRINCE BANDAR

Absolutely.


LARRY KING

What did you make of him when you met him?


PRINCE BANDAR

I was not impressed, to be honest with you…


LARRY KING

Not impressed.


PRINCE BANDAR

No, he was, I thought he was a simple and very quiet guy.


Bush in classroom—still thinking

NARRATION

Back to footage of Bush in the Florida classroom, not looking happy

Hmmm, a simple and quiet guy whose family just happened to have a business relationship with the family of George W. Bush. Is that what he was thinking about? Because if the public knew this, it wouldn’t look very good. Was he thinking, “You know, I need a big black marker”? (footage of Michael Moore giving speech accusing Bush of being a deserter) In early 2004, in a speech during the New Hampshire primary, I called George W. Bush a deserter from his time in the Texas Air National Guard. In response, the White House released his military records in the hopes of disproving the charge.


Shot of the military records

What Bush didn’t know is that I already had a copy of his military records, uncensored, obtained in the year 2000, and there is one glaring difference between the records released in 2000 and those he released in 2004. (close-up of black magic marker over text) A name had been blacked out. In 1972, two airmen were suspended for failing to take their medical examination. One was George W. Bush (MUSIC CUE: guitar riff from Cocaine) and the other was James R. Bath. In 2000 the documents show both names. But in 2004, Bush and the White House had Bath’s name blacked out. Why didn’t Bush want the press and the public to see Bath’s name on his military records? Perhaps he was worried that the American people would find out that at one time James R. Bath was the Texas money manager for the bin Ladens. Bush and Bath had become good friends when they both served in the Texas Air National Guard. After they were discharged, when Bush’s dad was head of the CIA, Bath opened up his own aviation business, after selling a plane to a man by the name of Salem bin Laden, heir to the second largest fortune in Saudi Arabia, the Saudi bin Laden Group.


JIM MOORE (INVESTIGATIVE REPORTER AND AUTHOR)

“W.” at that time was just starting off in the world as a businessman. Because he’s a guy who’s always tried to emulate his father, he decided to go into the oil business. (historical footage and photos of George W. Bush) He founded an oil company, a drilling company, out in west Texas called Arbusto, which was very, very good at drilling dry holes that nothing came out of. But the question has always been, “Where did this money come from?” Now his dad, his dad was rich, his dad could have done this for him but his dad didn’t do this for him. There is no indication that daddy wrote a check to start him off in this company.


NARRATION

Over historical footage of George Bush

So where did George W. Bush get his money?


GEORGE W. BUSH

Old footage of him shaking someone’s hand

I’m George Bush.


NARRATION

Photo of James Bath, and agreement between Bath and Salem bin Laden


One person who did invest in him was James R. Bath. Bush’s good friend James Bath was hired by the bin Laden family to manage their money in Texas and invest in businesses. And James Bath himself, in turn, invested in George W. Bush. (financial records verifying a $50,000 investment in Bush’s company Arbusto)

Bush ran Arbusto into the ground, as he did every other company he was involved in, until finally one of his companies was bought by Harken Energy and they gave him a seat on their board.



INTERVIEW: JIM MOORE

A lot of us have suspected through the years that…that there has been Saudi oil money involved in all of these companies—Harken, Spectrum 7, Arbusto Drilling, all of the Bush companies. Whenever they got into trouble there were these angel investors who flowed money into the companies.


INTERVIEW: CRAIG UNGER

So the question is: Why would Saudis, who had all the oil in the world, go around the…around the globe to invest in this lousy oil company. And the thing is it had one big asset, Harken had one thing going for it, which is that George W. Bush was on its board of directors at a time when his father was President of the United States.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Television interview, August 1992

When you’re the President’s son, and you’ve got unlimited access, combined with some credentials from a prior campaign, in Washington, D.C., people tend to respect that. And, access is power. And, uh, I can find my dad and talk to him any time of the day.


NARRATION

Photos of George Bush at Harken Energy

Yes, it helps to be the President’s son. Especially when you’re being investigated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.


News clip

BILL PLANTE (CBS REPORTER) VOICEOVER

In 1990, when Mr. Bush was a director of Harken Energy, he received this memo from company lawyers, warning directors not to sell stock if they had unfavorable information about the company. One week later, he sold $848,000 worth of Harken stock. Two months later, Harken announced losses of more than $23 million.


NARRATION

Shot of Robert Jordan and map of Saudi Arabia

The James Baker law partner who helped Bush beat the rap from the SEC was a man by the name of Robert Jordan, who, when George W. became president, was appointed ambassador to Saudi Arabia. After the Harken debacle, the friends of Bush’s dad got him a seat on another board, of a company owned by the Carlyle Group.


INTERVIEW: DAN BRIODY (AUTHOR

OF THE HALLIBURTON AGENDA)


We wanted to look at which companies actually gained from September 11. We turned up this company, Carlyle Group. (graphics showing many of the companies owned by the Carlyle Group)

The Carlyle Group is a multinational conglomerate that invests in heavily government-regulated industries like telecommunications, health care, and, particularly, defense. Both George W. Bush and George H. W. Bush worked for the Carlyle Group, the same company that counted the bin Laden family among its investors. (both Bushes in a private box at a sporting event) Carlyle Group was holding its annual investor conference on the morning of September 11 in the Ritz-Carlton Hotel in Washington, D.C. At that meeting were all of the Carlyle regulars, James Baker, likely John Major, definitely George H. W. Bush, though he left the morning of September 11. Shafiq bin Ladin, who is Osama bin Laden’s half-brother, and was in town to look after his family’s investments in the Carlyle Group. All of them, together in one room, watching as the, uh, the planes hit the towers and then in fact the bin Laden family was invested in one of their defense funds, which ironically meant that, um, as the United States started increasing its defense spending, um, the bin Laden family stood to gain from those investments, uh, through the Carlyle Group.



ANNOUNCER

Footage of Bush being introduced at United Defense company event—subsidiary of Carlyle Group

Our commander in chief, President George W. Bush.


NARRATION

Bush at United Defense

With all the weapons companies it owned, the Carlyle Group was in essence, the eleventh largest defense contractor in the United States. It owned United Defense, makers of the Bradley armored fighting vehicle. September 11 guaranteed that United Defense was going to have a very good year. ( Los Angeles Times headline) Just six weeks after 9/11, Carlyle filed to take United Defense public and in December made a one-day profit of $237 million. But, sadly, with so much attention focused on the bin Laden family being important Carlyle investors, the bin Ladens eventually had to withdraw. Bush’s dad, though, stayed on as senior advisor to Carlyle’s Asia Board for another two years.


DAN BRIODY


As unseemly as it seems to…to know that George H. W. Bush was meeting with the bin Laden family while Osama was a wanted terrorist, well before September 11th, it’s very discomforting for Americans to know that.

(shots of G. H. W. Bush meeting with Saudis) George H. W. Bush is a man who has, obviously, incredible reach into the White House. He receives daily CIA briefings, which is the right of any ex-president. But very few ex-presidents actually exercise that right; he does. And I think in a very real way they are benefiting from the confusion that arises when George H. W. Bush visits Saudi Arabia, on behalf of Carlyle, and meets with the royal family and meets with the bin Laden family. Is he representing the United States of America, or is he representing an investment firm in the United States of America or is he representing both? This company is about money. It’s not about conspiracies to run the world or you know engineer political maneuvering and things like that. It’s about making money and it’s about making a lot of money and they’ve done very very well.



News clip

HELEN THOMAS

(MEMBER OF WHITE HOUSE PRESS CORPS)

Off camera, at White House press briefing questioning spokesman Ari Fleischer

Get you on the record on this question. In the White House view, there’s no ethical conflict in former President Bush and former Secretary of State Jim Baker using their contacts with world leaders to represent one of the most well-known military arms dealers, the Carlyle Group?


ARI FLEISCHER

The President has full faith that his family will conform with all proper ethics laws, all ethics laws, and will act properly in their conduct.


Bush with Saudi Royals and associates

NARRATION

Americana shots of normal U.S. citizens, juxtaposed with shots of Saudi Royals and Bush confidants

Okay, so let’s say one group of people, like the American people, pay you $400,000 a year to be President of the United States, but then another group of people invest in you, your friends, and their related businesses $1.4 billion over a number of years (number flashes on screen: $1.4 billion), who you gonna like? Who’s your daddy? Because that’s how much the Saudi Royals and their associates have given the Bush family, their friends, and their related businesses in the past three decades.


News clip

GEORGE H. W. BUSH

Greeting Saudis

Good morning, everybody. We’ve had a very nice reunion with friends.


NARRATION

Is it rude to suggest that when the Bush family wakes up in the morning they might be thinking about what’s best for the Saudis instead of what’s best for you or me? Because 1.4 billion just doesn’t buy a lot of flights out of the country. It buys a lot of love.


MUSIC CUE

Bush and cabinet members with Saudi elite—holding hands and smiling for photo ops


Shiny happy people holding hands

Shiny happy people holding hands

Shiny happy people laughing

Everyone around, love them, love them

Put it in your hands

Take it, take it

There’s no time to cry

Happy, happy

Put it in your heart

Where tomorrow shines

Gold and silver shine



NARRATION

Sooner or later, this special relationship with a regime that Amnesty International condemns as a widespread human rights violator, would come back to haunt the Bushes. (footage of a public beheading in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia) Now, after 9/11, it was an embarrassment and they preferred that no one ask any questions.


News clip

CAROL ASHLEY (MOTHER OF 9/11 VICTIM)

The investigation should have begun on September 12, um, there’s no reason why it shouldn’t have. Three thousand people were dead. It was a murder. And it should have gotten started immediately.


NARRATION

Washington Post headline “Bush Seeks to Restrict Hill Probes of Sept 11”

First, Bush tried to stop Congress from setting up its own 9/11 investigation.


NEWS CLIP: GEORGE W. BUSH

It’s important for us to, uh, not reveal how we collect information. That’s what the enemy wants. And we’re fighting an enemy.


NARRATION

Newspaper headline “Bush Opposes 9/11 Panel”

When he couldn’t stop Congress, he then tried to stop an independent 9/11 commission from being formed.


News clip

NORAH O’DONNELL (NBC REPORTER)

The President’s position was a break from history. Independent investigations were launched within days of Pearl Harbor and President Kennedy’s assassination.


NARRATION

Member of Congress holding “Report of 9/11 Investigation”

But when Congress did complete its own investigation, the Bush White House censored 28 pages of the report.


News clip

ANDREA MITCHELL (NBC REPORTER) VOICEOVER

The President is being pressed by all sides to declassify the report. U.S. officials tell NBC News most of the secret sources involve Saudi Arabia.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Interviewed on Meet the Press

We have uh, given, uh, extraordinary cooperation with, uh, Chairman Kean and Hamilton.


GOVERNOR THOMAS KEAN

(CHAIRMAN, 9/11 COMMISSION)

We haven’t gotten the materials we needed, and we certainly haven’t gotten them in a timely fashion. The deadlines we set have passed.


TIM RUSSERT (HOST, MEET THE PRESS)

Will you testify before the commission?


GEORGE W. BUSH

This commission? You know, I don’t…I…testify? I mean, I’d be glad to visit with them.


INTERVIEW: ROSEMARY DILLARD

(WIDOW OF 9/11 VICTIM)

What it would do, is, the hole that’s in my heart, and has been in my heart since September 11. I lost my husband of fifteen years. I am now by myself. I need to know what happened to him. I know what I got back, from the aut…got the autopsy. That man was my life, and I have no plan. I took a…I was taking a class, and they asked me what was I going to do in the next five years. And if I’m not doing something with this, I don’t know what reason I have to live. So, it’s very important. Very important. Okay?


NARRATION

Over footage of 9/11 family protest on Washington

Ignored by the Bush Administration, more than 500 relatives of 9/11 victims filed suit against Saudi royals and others. The lawyers the Saudi Defense Minister hired to fight the 9/11 families? The law firm of Bush family confidant James A. Baker.


Michael Moore and Craig Unger on the streets of Washington, D.C.

MICHAEL MOORE

So, we’re right here in the center of three important American landmarks, uh, the Watergate hotel and office building. The Kennedy Center over there. And, uh, the embassy of Saudi Arabia.


CRAIG UNGER

Yeah.


MICHAEL MOORE

How much money do the Saudis have invested in America, roughly?


CRAIG UNGER

Uh, I’ve heard figures as high as $860 billion.


MICHAEL MOORE

860 billion.


CRAIG UNGER

Billion.


MICHAEL MOORE

That’s a lot of money.


CRAIG UNGER

A lot.


MICHAEL MOORE

And, uh, what, what percentage of our economy does that represent, I mean, that seems like a lot.


CRAIG UNGER

As they talk, Secret Service cars begin to pull up in front of embassy, and approach the interview


Well, in terms of in…investments on Wall Street, American equities, it’s roughly six or seven percent of America. They own a fairly good slice of America.

And most of that money goes into the great blue-chip companies. You, uh, Citigroup, Citibank, is, uh, the largest stockholder is a Saudi. Uh, AOL TimeWarner has big Saudi investors. (Secret Service agents are talking with one another and watching interview from afar)



MICHAEL MOORE

So, I read where, like, the Saudis have a trillion dollars in our banks, their money. What would happen if, like, one day they just pulled that trillion dollars out?


CRAIG UNGER

A trillion dollars? That would be an enormous blow to the economy.


MICHAEL MOORE

Right, right.


SECRET SERVICE AGENT

Walks up and interrupts interview

Mr. Moore, can I speak to you for a moment, please, sir?


MICHAEL MOORE

Yeah. Sure.


SECRET SERVICE AGENT

How are you doing?


MICHAEL MOORE

I’m good. How are you doing?


SECRET SERVICE AGENT

Steve Kimball, Secret Service. How are you doing, sir?


MICHAEL MOORE

How are you doing, sir? Yes.


SECRET SERVICE AGENT

Uh, we’re just ascertaining information. You’re doing a documentary regarding the Saudi Arabia embassy? Or chancellery?


MICHAEL MOORE

Uh, no. I’m doing a documentary and part of it is about Saudi Arabia.


NARRATION

Michael Moore and Secret Service agent continue to talk

Even though we were nowhere near the White House for some reason the Secret Service had shown up to ask us what we were doing standing across the street from the Saudi embassy.


MICHAEL MOORE

(to Secret Service agent) We’re not here to cause any trouble or anything, you know. Is that…


SECRET SERVICE AGENT

Yeah, that’s fine. We just wanted to make sure, to get some information as far as what was actually going on.


MICHAEL MOORE

What’s going on, yeah, yeah, yeah. I didn’t realize the Secret Service guards foreign embassies.


SECRET SERVICE AGENT

Uh, not usually. No sir.


MICHAEL MOORE

No, no. Do they give you any trouble? The Saudis?


SECRET SERVICE AGENT

No comment on that, sir.


MICHAEL MOORE

Oh, okay. Well, I’ll take that as a yes. All right, good. Thank you very much. Thanks for the work that you do.


NARRATION

Agents walking away and on the steps of embassy

It turns out that Saudi Prince Bandar is perhaps the best protected ambassador in the U.S. The U.S. State Department provides him with a six-man security detail. Considering how he and his family and the Saudi elite own seven percent of America, it’s probably not a bad idea.


Intimate photos of George W. Bush and Prince Bandar


Prince Bandar was so close to the Bushes, they considered him a member of the family. And they even had a nickname for him, “Bandar Bush.” Two nights after September 11, George Bush invited Bandar Bush over to the White House for a private dinner and a talk. Even though bin Laden was a Saudi (Osama bin Laden) and Saudi money had funded al Qaeda, and fifteen of the nineteen hijackers were Saudis, (photos of highjackers) here was the Saudi ambassador casually dining with the President on September 13. What were they talking about?

(splitscreen photos of Bush and Bandar) Were they commiserating? Or comparing notes?

(footage of Saudi police, and Houston Chronicle headline “U.S. Reluctant to Upset Flawed, Fragile Saudi Ties”) Why would Bandar’s government block American investigators from talking to the relatives of the fifteen hijackers? Why would Saudi Arabia become reluctant to freeze the hijacker’s assets?

The two of them walked out on the Truman Balcony so that Bandar could smoke a cigar and have a drink. In the distance, across the Potomac was the Pentagon partially in ruins. (Pentagon burning) I wonder if Mr. Bush told Prince Bandar not to worry because he already had a plan in motion.



News clip

CHARLES GIBSON (HOST OF ABC NEWS’

GOOD MORNING AMERICA)

Interviewing Richard Clarke, Bush’s counterterrorism chief

You come in September 12 ready to plot what response we take to al Qaeda. Let me talk to the…about the response that you got from top administration officials. On that day, what did the president say to you?


RICHARD CLARKE

The president, in a very intimidating way, left us, me and my staff, with the the clear indication that he wanted us to come back with the word that there was an Iraqi hand behind 9/11. Because they had been planning to do something about Iraq from before the time they came into office.


CHARLES GIBSON

Did he ask about any other nations other than Iraq?


RICHARD CLARKE

No. No, no, no. No, not at all. It was Iraq, Saddam. Find out, get back to me.


CHARLES GIBSON

And were his questions more about Iraq than about al Qaeda?


RICHARD CLARKE

Absolutely. Absolutely. He didn’t ask me about al Qaeda.


CHARLES GIBSON

And the reaction you got that day from the Defense Secretary, Donald Rumsfeld, from his assistant Paul Wolfowitz?


RICHARD CLARKE


Well, Donald Rumsfeld said, when we talked about bombing the al Qaeda infrastructure in Afghanistan, he said there were no good targets in Afghanistan. Let’s bomb Iraq. And we said, but Iraq had nothing to do with this. And that didn’t seem to make much difference.

And the reason they had to do Afghanistan first was it was obvious that al Qaeda had attacked us. And it was obvious that al Qaeda was in Afghanistan. The American people wouldn’t have stood by if we had done nothing on Afghanistan.



Burning map of Afghanistan…Opening sequence from “Bonanza” with leaders’ faces superimposed. George W. Bush, Donald Rumsfeld, Dick Cheney, and Tony Blair.

NARRATION

Over news footage from Afghanistan invasion

The United States began bombing Afghanistan just four weeks after 9/11. Mr. Bush said he was doing so because the Taliban government of Afghanistan had been harboring bin Laden.


Various news clips

GEORGE W. BUSH


I’ll smoke them out of their holes.

We’re gonna smoke ’em out.

Smoke him out.

Smoke him out of his cave.



UNIDENTIFIED ACTOR

Footage from western film from the 1930s

Let’s rush him and smoke him out.


NARRATION

For all his tough talk, Bush really didn’t do much.


News clip

RICHARD CLARKE

On Good Morning America


Well, what they did was slow and small. They put only eleven thousand troops into Afghanistan. There are more police here in Manhattan—more police here in Manhattan—than there are U.S. troops in Afghanistan.

Basically the President botched the response to 9/11. He should have gone right after bin Laden. U.S. Special Forces didn’t get into the area where bin Laden was for two months.



NARRATION

Photo op with press: Footage of Bush hunting

Two months? A mass murderer who attacked the United States was given a two-month head start? Who in their right mind would do that?


GEORGE W. BUSH

Anybody say nice shot?


OFF CAMERA

Nice shot, helluva shot.


NARRATION

Or was the war in Afghanistan really about something else? Perhaps the answer was in Houston, Texas.


Oil rigs, map of pipeline, shots of Taliban in Texas

In 1997, while George W. Bush was governor of Texas, a delegation of Taliban leaders from Afghanistan flew to Houston to meet with Unocal executives to discuss the building of a pipeline through Afghanistan, bringing natural gas from the Caspian Sea. And who got a Caspian Sea drilling contract the same day Unocal signed the pipeline deal? A company headed by a man named Dick Cheney. Halliburton.


INTERVIEW: MARTHA BRILL OLCOTT (UNOCAL PROJECT CONSULTANT)

From the point of view of the U.S. government, this was kind of a magic pipeline, um, because it could serve so many purposes.


NARRATION

Shots of Kenneth Lay and Enron

And who else stood to benefit from the pipeline? Bush’s number one campaign contributor, Kenneth Lay, and the good people of Enron. Only the British press covered this trip. Then in 2001, just five and a half months before 9/11, the Bush administration welcomed a special Taliban envoy to tour the United States to help improve the image of the Taliban government.


Footage from Taliban’s visit to U.S., with Sayed Rahmatullah Hashimi, the Taliban minister, being confronted at a press conference by a female protester dressed up in a burka

PROTESTER

Whipping burka off her head, yells at minister

You have imprisoned the women. It’s a horror, let me tell you.


SAYED RAHMATULLAH HASHIMI

(TALIBAN MINISTER)

And I’m really sorry to your husband. He must have a very difficult time with you.


NARRATION

News clip from March 19, 2001, of Hashimi leaving State Department


Here is the Taliban official visiting our State Department to meet with U.S. officials. Why on earth would the Bush administration allow a Taliban leader to visit the United States knowing that the Taliban were harboring the man who bombed the USS Cole and our African embassies? Well, I guess 9/11 put a stop to that. (photos of Osama bin Laden and USS Cole and African embassy rubble)

When the invasion of Afghanistan was complete, we installed its new president, Hamid Karzai. Who was Hamid Karzai? (photo op of Bush and Hamid Karzai) He was a former advisor to Unocal. Bush also appointed as our envoy to Afghanistan Zalmay Khalilzad, who was also a former Unocal advisor. (photo of Khalilzad and Bush in Oval Office) I guess you can probably see where this is leading.



Footage of Karzai signing agreement

Faster than you can say “Black Gold, Texas Tea,” Afghanistan signed an agreement with their neighboring countries to build a pipeline through Afghanistan carrying natural gas from the Caspian Sea. Oh, and the Taliban? They mostly got away, as did Osama bin Laden and most of al Qaeda.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Speaking to the press at the White House, referring to Osama bin Laden

Terror is bigger than one person. And, uh, he’s just…he’s…he’s, uh, he’s a person who’s now been marginalized, so I don’t know where he is, nor…you know I just don’t spend that much time on him, hell to even be honest with you.


NARRATION

Didn’t spend much time on him? What kind of President was he?


TV clip: Meet the Press interview

GEORGE W. BUSH

I’m a “War President.” I make decisions here in the Oval Office, uh, in foreign policy matters, with war on my mind.


NARRATION

Bush walking with General Tommy Franks

With the war in Afghanistan over and bin Laden forgotten the “war president” had a new target—the American people.


Big dramatic FOX graphics: “War on Terror”

Various news clips

DAVID ASMAN (FOX NEWS ANCHOR)

We’ve got an unusual terror warning from the Feds to tell you about. FOX News has obtained an FBI bulletin that warns terrorists could use pen guns, just like in James Bond, filled with poison, as weapons.


JOHN SIEGENTHALER (NBC ANCHOR)

Good evening everyone, America is on high alert tonight, just four days before Christmas.


WOLF BLITZER (CNN ANCHOR)

…a possible terror threat.


JOHN ROBERTS (CBS ANCHOR)

As bad as or worse than 9/11.


JOIE CHEN (CBS REPORTER) VOICEOVER

But where? How? There’s nothing specific to report.


PIERRE THOMAS (ABC REPORTER) VOICEOVER

Be on the lookout for model airplanes, packed with explosives.


MIKE EMMANUEL (FOX NEWS REPORTER)

The FBI is warning ferries may be considered particularly at risk for hijacking.


LOCAL NEWS REPORTER (CONUS ARCHIVES) VOICEOVER

Could these cattle be a target for terrorists?


Interview: Congressman Jim McDermott (D-Washington), Psychiatrist and Member of Congress

MICHAEL MOORE

Fear works.


CONGRESSMAN JIM MCDERMOTT

Fear does work, yes. You can make people do anything if they’re afraid.


MICHAEL MOORE

And how do you make them afraid?


CONGRESSMAN JIM MCDERMOTT

Well, you make them afraid by creating an aura of endless threat. They played us like an organ. (shots of terror alert color chart) They raised the…the orange, and then up to red, and they dropped it back to orange. I mean, they gave these mixed messages, which were crazy making.


News clips of speeches

GEORGE W. BUSH

The world has changed after September the 11th. It’s changed because we’re no longer safe.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Fly and enjoy America’s great destination spots.


DONALD RUMSFELD

We have entered what may very well prove to be the most dangerous security environment the world’s known.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Take your families and enjoy life.


DICK CHENEY

Terrorists are doing everything they can to gain even deadlier means of striking us.


GEORGE W. BUSH

Get down to Disney World in Florida.


CONGRESSMAN JIM MCDERMOTT

It’s like training a dog. You tell him, “Sit down,” and you tell him to roll over at the same time, dog doesn’t know what to do. Well, the American people were being treated like that. It was really very, very skillfully and…and ugly in…in what they did.


News clip

GEORGE W. BUSH

Photo op: press on golf course

We must stop the terror. I call upon all nations to do everything they can to stop these terrorist killers. Thank you. Now watch this drive. (swings golf club)


CONGRESSMAN JIM MCDERMOTT

They will continue, in my view, as long as this administration is in charge, of every once in a while stimulating everybody to be afraid. Just in case you forgot. (more shots of terror alert color chart) It’s not going to go down to green or blue. It’s never going to get there. There clearly is no way that anyone can live constantly on edge like that.


PROMOTIONAL VIDEO FOR ZYTECH ENGINEERING

Spokesman talks directly to camera in a concerned tone


The harsh reality facing American families today is that they’re not as safe as they used to be. Drug dealers and users looking for their next fix. Gangs who roam the streets in search of their next victim and the growing threat of terrorists means the need for protection is ever greater. And now, that protection is here. (shot of “safe room”—looks like a large Porta Potti)

Zytech Engineering LLC has developed and tested a safe room, finally affordable to the average American citizen. The kind of protection formerly obtainable only by the wealthy or powerful.



CEO OF ZYTECH CORP

Sitting inside “safe room” showing audience how comfortable this metal box is

Heck, you can be sitting in here drinking your finest Bordeaux and enjoying life while chaos is erupting outside.


Public service announcement

TOM RIDGE (HOMELAND SECURITY CHIEF)

Every family in America should prepare itself for a terrorist attack.


News clip: The Today Show

MATT LAUER (NBC TODAY SHOW HOST)

Now to escaping from a skyscraper. John Rivers is the CEO of the Executive Chute Corporation. Good morning to you John.


JOHN RIVERS

Talking to Matt Lauer from his showroom in Three Rivers, Michigan

Good morning, Matt.


MATT LAUER

Tell me about the product you’re bringing to the market.


JOHN RIVERS

It’s a, uh, emergency escape chute. It’s an option of last resort.


MATT LAUER

How high do you have to be in the building for that chute to actually take effect?


JOHN RIVERS

You only have to be on the tenth floor or above.


MATT LAUER

They can put this on themselves?


JOHN RIVERS

Right, they can put this on themselves in as easy as about 30 seconds. It’s real easy to put on…here. (woman modeling the parachute is having trouble getting her foot into the harness)


JOHN RIVERS

It’s okay…real easy to put on, but, uh…when you first get the chute, you’re gonna want to put it on and try it on a few times yourself…(he is bending down, trying to help her get foot into loop—no luck)


MATT LAUER

Jamie’s having a little trouble putting that thing on, I want to mention. I mean, is this something that…that you honestly think in a moment of panic that someone can operate properly?


JOHN RIVERS

Jamie continues to struggle with the chute—now it’s the buckle across her waist


Oh yeah, yeah, it is. It’s…it’s, this is actually, uh, Jamie’s probably never put this thing on before in her life, so…

It’s okay. Don’t worry about it. It’s something that when you get it you’re going to want to put it on several times. (Jamie looks dejected into the camera)



News clip

DAVE BONDY (NEWS REPORTER,

WNEM, MICHIGAN)

Well, despite the raising of the terror alert level, residents here in Saginaw are continuing with their Christmas errands. Frances Stroik and her family do some last minute holiday shopping knowing that al Qaeda is planning to attack America. She says being in Saginaw doesn’t make her feel any safer than if she was in New York City.


FRANCES STROIK

From WNEM newscast

Midland is close-by. And I said, “Detroit’s not far, that far away.” I said, “they could be something, and Flint could be some…be concerns for people around here.”


MEL STROIK

From WNEM newscast

You never know where they’re gonna hit. You never know where they’re gonna hit.


News clip

JIM MIKLASZEWSKI (NBC NEWS REPORTER) VOICEOVER

But one potential target specifically mentioned by the terrorists has security officials baffled. It’s tiny Tappahannock, Virginia, population 2,016. Such an attack could generate widespread fear, that even here, in rural small-town America, no one is entirely safe.


INTERVIEW: MAYOR ROY GLADDING

Oh, on the six o’clock news there was something about a terrorist alert in Tappahannock.


MICHAEL MOORE

To Sheriff Clarke

What did the FBI tell you?


SHERIFF STANLEY CLARKE

Well, they contacted me by phone, basically let me know about this word “Tappahannock,” and that’s how it started.


MAYOR ROY GLADDING

In their so-called chatter that they pick up, they wasn’t sure. Tappahannock, there’s a Rappahannock county. This is the Rappahannock River. (map of the area)


Quick interviews with residents of Tappahannock

FRANCES WILMORE

There is a Rappahannock…a place called Rappahannock, and they got it mixed up.


MALE RESIDENT

This is Tappahannock, not Rappahannock.


MICHAEL MOORE

Is there any terrorist target around here?


MAYOR ROY GLADDING

Not that we can really think of.


SHERIFF STANLEY CLARKE

It can happen anywhere.


MAYOR ROY GLADDING

We have a Wal-Mart here.


FRANCES WILMORE

We’re having a big spaghetti supper in here.


MALE RESIDENT

Wal-Mart, probably.


MICHAEL MOORE

Do you feel extra suspicious of outsiders?


ROBERT ROYAL

Oh, everybody does that. It’s just something that happens.


FEMALE RESIDENT

When I look at certain people, I wonder, “Oh my goodness! Do you think they could be a terrorist?”


WILLIAM J. JACKSON

You never know what’s going to happen.


MALE RESIDENT

That’s right, you never know what’s going to happen.


WILLIAM J. JACKSON

You never know what’s going to happen. It could happen right now, you know.


ROBERT ROYAL

Never trust nobody you don’t know. And even if you do know them, you really can’t trust them then.


NARRATION

Shots of scared Americans

From Tappahannock to Rappahannock to every town and village in America, the people were afraid. And they turned to their leader to protect them. But, protect them from what?


John Ashcroft singing at podium: “Let the Eagle Soar,” words and music by John Ashcroft

JOHN ASHCROFT


(singing) Let the eagle soar,

Like she’s never soared before.

From rocky coast, to golden shore,

Let the mighty eagle soar…



Text on screen

Footage from Senate race of 2000

NARRATION

Footage from Missouri Senate race of 2000

Meet John Ashcroft. In 2000, he was running for reelection as Senator from Missouri against a man who died the month before the election. (Senator Carnahan’s portrait—draped in black) The voters preferred the dead guy. So, George W. Bush made him his attorney general. (Ashcroft being sworn in on three Bibles) He was sworn in on a stack of Bibles, ’cause when you can’t beat a dead guy, you need all the help you can get.


Footage from 9/11 Commission hearings

NARRATION

During the summer before 9/11, Ashcroft told acting FBI director Thomas Pickard that he didn’t want to hear anything more about terrorist threats.


9/11 COMMISSIONER RICHARD BEN-VENISTE

Questioning Thomas Pickard

Mr. Watson had come to you and said that the CIA was very concerned that there would be an attack. You said that you told the Attorney General this fact repeatedly in these meetings. Is that correct?


THOMAS PICKARD (ACTING FBI DIRECTOR, SUMMER 2001)

(answers Ben-Veniste) I told him on, uh, at least two occasions.


RICHARD BEN-VENISTE

And you told the staff, according to this statement, that Mr. Ashcroft told you that he did not want to hear about this anymore. Is that correct?


THOMAS PICKARD

That is correct.


NARRATION

Close-ups of FBI documents, July 10, 2001, noting that students of Osama bin Laden were attending civil aviation universities

His own FBI knew that summer that there were al Qaeda members in the U.S., and that bin Laden was sending his agents to flight schools around the country. But Ashcroft’s Justice Department turned a blind eye and a deaf ear. But after 9/11, John Ashcroft had some brilliant ideas for how to protect America.


News clip

ELIZABETH HASHAGEN (NEWS 12, LONG ISLAND)

The U.S.A. Patriot Act adopted by Congress and signed by Bush six weeks after the attacks has changed the way the government does business. The U.S.A. Patriot Act allows for searches of medical and financial records, computer and telephone conversations, and even for the books you take out of the library. But most of the people we spoke to say they’re willing to give up some liberties to fight terrorism.
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